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			ARE YOU WITH ME?

			KEVIN BOYLE AND THE RISE OF 
THE HUMAN RIGHTS MOVEMENT

			‘Kevin Boyle contributed to the building of modern Ireland, and the wider world, as a place of universal human rights. Practitioner, law teacher, activist and global champion of human rights, Boyle deserves this splendid biography. It explains his place in the pantheon of human rights champions.’

			MICHAEL KIRBY, former Justice of the High Court of Australia and past President of the International Commission of Jurists

			‘An eloquent account of the life and work of one of the greatest heroes who has ever worked in the sphere of human rights … The world was made a better place because of Kevin Boyle – a charismatic, generous and ebullient figure – and I am delighted that Mike Chinoy has written this book.’

			ZEINAB BADAWI, broadcaster and former Chair of Article 19

			‘Brilliant and charismatic in equal measure, Kevin Boyle ... showed how scholarship could be done with an eye to real change. What a pleasure it is to have a book that brings his fully-lived life back into view.’

			CONOR GEARTY, Professor of Human Rights Law, 
London School of Economics

			‘Mike Chinoy has written an engaging portrait of Boyle the lawyer and Boyle the man, and anyone interested in Ireland, justice, or international law should read this book.’

			HURST HANNUM, Professor of International Law at 
Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy, Tufts University

			‘Part of the problem in remembering the past in Northern Ireland is that the people who were most demonstrative and aggressive are given their place in history while the more effectively assertive and tactically intelligent are bypassed. Mike Chinoy has placed Kevin Boyle back at the heart of the story, where he belongs, as a civil rights activist and lawyer who went on to gain global importance. He shows Boyle to have been a man of thoughtful conscience and immense personal courage who was concerned with the rights of all and who – along with allies like Tom Hadden – has bequeathed us an impartial emphasis on rights untainted by prejudice or allegiance. Chinoy brings the necessary journalistic thoroughness to this story of a world-shaker whose moves were quiet, deliberate and compassionate.’

			MALACHI O’DOHERTY, Gerry Adams: An Unauthorised Life

			‘Mike Chinoy has done a major service by chronicling the extraordinary range of Kevin Boyle’s work over nearly 50 years. He paints a fascinating picture of this quiet, soft-spoken, but determined defender of human rights. This book should be read by everyone interested in human rights, not just in Northern Ireland, but in every country where rights need to be defended.’

			MICHAEL FARRELL, Solicitor, former Chair of the Irish 
Council for Civil Liberties, and early leader of the 
Northern Ireland civil rights movement
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			Author’s Note

			For someone who spent most of his career in the public eye, Kevin Boyle was remarkably private. By nature unassuming and self-effacing, he was less interested in talking about himself than about the issues on which he was engaged, or the work of his colleagues or students. Many of his greatest achievements took place away from the glare of publicity. Boyle’s prodigious intellectual and political output contains relatively little about his own personal emotions, motivations, decisions, or actions. While there are references to him in many books about the Troubles in Northern Ireland, or in analyses of broader questions related to the struggle for human rights, the role he actually played over more than four decades, let alone his compelling personal story, is barely known. Yet, arguably, he was one of the most influential figures in the Northern Ireland civil rights movement and in the search for a peace agreement. On the global stage, he was a pioneer in using international law on behalf of the victims of torture, unjust imprisonment and discrimination, and in defence of freedom of expression, belief and association. In the process, he helped create the intellectual foundation for an expansion of human rights protections around the word, and inspired generations of activists who have followed him. In short, as Mary Robinson, Ireland’s one-time president and the former UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, said when I told her about this book, ‘Kevin Boyle deserves to be remembered.’ 

			I first met Kevin Boyle in Belfast in 1972. As a student at Yale University, influenced by the ferment of the anti-Vietnam war movement in the US, I had become interested in the struggle for civil rights in Northern Ireland. While visiting my college professor parents, who were on sabbatical leave in London, in December 1971 I flew to Dublin to learn more. Arriving at the office of Sinn Féin, the IRA’s political wing, I asked if I could talk to someone. Moments later, I was ushered into a back room and told to ‘have a wee word with Joe’. It turned out that ‘Joe’ was Joe Cahill, a legendary IRA gunman, then on the run from the authorities in Belfast. Balding, with hooded eyes and a cigarette between his lips, he apparently had nothing better to do than to spend an entire afternoon explaining the history and rationale for the IRA’s campaign against the British in Northern Ireland to a nineteen-year-old American college student. As an aspiring journalist, it was my first scoop, which I duly published in the Yale Daily News. 

			Five months later my sociologist father was invited to give a talk at Queen’s University Belfast, and, with my interest in Irish issues, I accompanied him. We arrived in Belfast as the Ulster Defence Association, the extreme loyalist paramilitary force, was setting up no-go zones in Protestant areas in protest at Catholic neighbourhoods having done the same thing. The city was in terrifying turmoil, with barricades on the streets, gangs of stone-throwing rioters rampaging through both communities, smoke from burning tyres darkening the summer skies, and nervous British troops struggling to maintain order.

			Queen’s University, however, was an oasis of calm. My father gave his talk, and at a reception afterwards I met Kevin Boyle. Puffing on his pipe, utterly without airs, he was as interested in hearing my thoughts as I was in learning more about him. When he told me that he was coming to Yale that September on a postgraduate fellowship, I asked if he would be willing to supervise me in an independent study course on Irish history. He readily agreed, and almost every week during the following academic year we met to discuss the readings he had assigned. It was the beginning of both a close friendship and a deeper intellectual appreciation of the complexity of Irish history and politics.

			With ambitions to be a foreign correspondent, after graduating from Yale I decided to freelance in Northern Ireland. Kevin generously offered to let me stay in the spare room of his house. I spent many weeks there in 1974, 1975, 1976 and 1977. During that time he became my invaluable source as I sought to understand the conflict in Northern Ireland and the many issues it raised. After moving to Hong Kong to work as a journalist covering China and Asia in the mid-1970s (I had majored in Chinese Studies at Yale), I maintained my interest in the Troubles. In 1983 I became the fourth foreign correspondent hired by CNN, based in London, and resumed reporting on Irish issues. Boyle’s perspective was again instrumental in helping me make sense of what was going on. In the years that followed, as I moved to Beijing and Hong Kong for CNN, and then joined a think tank at the University of Southern California, Kevin and I stayed in touch. 

			My own experiences and insights, which Kevin Boyle played a significant role in shaping, provided an initial framework for this project. However, I discovered that, although we were friends for nearly forty years, the same modest and unassuming qualities that characterized his dealings with so many others meant that I actually knew relatively little about the range, scope and influence of his many activities. In seeking to understand and depict his remarkable life and work, I have therefore used the tools of the investigative journalist and historian – documents and interviews. I have relied first and foremost on the extraordinary archive of his papers at the James Hardiman Library at the National University of Ireland, Galway, where Boyle taught from 1978 to 1986. Donated by his wife Joan after Kevin’s untimely death in 2010, and archived by Barry Houlihan and colleagues, the letters, papers, diaries, journals, emails, manuscripts, press clippings, and audio and video recordings became the indispensable resource not only in reconstructing what he did, but also what he thought and felt.

			I have also made extensive use of two long interviews with Boyle: the first, Violence in Ulster, an oral history published in 1975 by the late William Van Voris, contains Van Voris’ verbatim transcripts from conversations with Boyle in 1972 and 1973; the second was a four-hour interview conducted in 2006 by British historian Simon Prince, author of Northern Ireland’s ’68. These interviews offer valuable insights and recollections about Boyle’s youth, the evolution of his thinking, his role in the civil rights movement and the violence that followed. 

			In addition, I interviewed over 100 people – family, friends, colleagues, lawyers, scholars, journalists, activists and others who shared their own memories, providing letters, photographs and other documents, and offering guidance and suggestions. When quoted in the text, these interviews are not footnoted, although citations are provided for all other written sources. 
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			Prologue

			It rained so hard on the day Kevin Boyle was buried that his widow Joan and their two sons barely made it to the funeral on time.

			On a grey and stormy morning in January 2011, they arrived at the quaint, non-denominational Victorian chapel at Colchester cemetery, Essex, squeezed into a local taxi secured at the last minute, just as the hearse carrying the body drew up. In the churchyard, Joan, Mark and Stephen were met by a sea of sombre faces. They were of all ages and nationalities: current and former students from Britain, Ireland, the rest of Europe, the Middle East, Africa and Asia, fellow academics and lawyers, friends and relatives, luminaries from the world of politics, the media, and the law. A former doctoral student from Turkey was there, her infant son strapped to her chest. The Boyles’ next-door neighbour, a dentist, had closed his surgery to attend.

			The chapel sat on the edge of a tree-lined 57-acre cemetery, where birds, deer, badgers and foxes wandered among the thousands of gravestones. The chapel could accommodate nearly 200 people, including standing room in the aisles. But on this raw day, so many had come that dozens were forced to stand outside, seeking shelter from the wet weather under the chapel’s portico.

			Joan was astonished. She had expected a substantial turnout – indeed, the funeral home had been alerted and had set up loudspeakers to broadcast the service to anyone who could not find a seat – but nothing had prepared her for the size of the assembled mourners. The University of Essex, where Kevin had taught for twenty years, had laid on a coach to bring staff and students. So many expressed a desire to attend, however, that when the university offered to arrange additional coaches, Boyle’s closest colleagues, who were helping with the funeral arrangements, quietly discouraged the move, concerned that the modest venue would be unable to cope with the numbers.

			Kevin Boyle was only sixty-seven when lung cancer claimed his life. Packed into the tiny church, or wet and shivering outside, the mourners heard him eulogized as a towering figure, one of the great human rights lawyers of his time 

			Among the mourners was Michael Farrell. Thin, bearded and intense, he had been Boyle’s fellow student at Queen’s. The two had marched together, confronted the Northern Ireland police, and argued over strategy while spearheading the struggle for civil rights at a time when the North’s minority Catholic community faced systematic discrimination at the hands of the Protestants who dominated the government, the economy and the security forces. After learning of Kevin’s death, Farrell had written to Joan, noting that Kevin was among the first activists who sought to use not just street protests but the law to push for change, playing a pioneering role in challenging state-sanctioned abuses in Northern Ireland before the European Commission of Human Rights.

			Sitting nearby was Hurst Hannum, an American law professor from Tufts University in Boston and one of Boyle’s closest friends. In the early 1970s they had brought a landmark case to the European Commission on behalf of seven Northern Irish men who had been interned without trial and beaten and tortured in detention. The legal battle was one of the earliest moves to draw attention to abuses perpetrated by the British army and Northern Ireland police in an international legal forum. Hannum remembered Boyle as a charismatic but exceptionally modest man who would joke that he had learned everything he knew about law from Hannum (as well as everything he knew about fine wine). Hannum, though, was clear that Boyle was a ‘first-rate lawyer’ in his own right, with a remarkable skill for building relationships and getting things done.

			Tom Hadden was also at the funeral. On the face of it, Hadden – from a conservative, well-to-do Protestant family in one of Northern Ireland’s most staunchly Protestant areas – was as different from Boyle as it was possible to be. Although they came from warring communities, he and Boyle, colleagues at the Queen’s University law faculty during the worst days of the Troubles, had become friends and had forged a remarkable intellectual partnership. It was just one of many instances in which Boyle, despite his background, transcended Northern Ireland’s sectarian divide in his professional, political and personal life – not least by marrying Joan, a Protestant from a small town outside Belfast. Hadden and Boyle had collaborated on several crucially important books and papers over two decades which offered practical proposals for resolving the Northern Irish conflict – proposals that helped provide the intellectual underpinning to the peace process that would end that conflict. 

			With all but one of seven surviving siblings looking on, Boyle’s younger brother Louis talked about how Kevin had grown up as one of nine children, son of a taxi driver in a small town in Northern Ireland. Slight, white-haired and soft-spoken, Louis reminisced about how Kevin became one of the leaders of the Northern Ireland civil rights movement, where ‘he brought a strong intellectual, strategic and moderating influence to its affairs’. 1

			Louis Boyle was followed by Sir Nigel Rodley. Since 1990, when Boyle had become the director of the University of Essex Human Rights Law Centre, Rodley had worked with him to turn it into the world’s leading centre of human rights education – ‘a multi-disciplinary powerhouse of research, teaching, and support for litigation’.2 To Rodley, a child of refugees from Nazi Germany, who for many years was the top lawyer at Amnesty International, Kevin had two sides. He was a ‘slightly dreamy’ idealist and ‘a really sharp, hard-headed lawyer’. Rodley spoke about Boyle’s ‘powerful commitment to the repair of damage and the righting of wrongs: redress and justice’.3

			Kevin Boyle’s career covered a sweeping range of human rights causes, from equality and social justice to censorship, discrimination and state-sanctioned torture and murder. It spanned decades – he had begun teaching law in 1966 – and continents. He dealt with freedom fighters, political prisoners, presidents and prime ministers, terrorists and the Secretary General of the United Nations. He was the lead lawyer in the case that decriminalized homosexuality in Northern Ireland. He played a key role in Amnesty International’s campaign against apartheid in South Africa. He fought and won landmark cases at the European Court of Human Rights on freedom of expression, and he spearheaded the international effort to defend the writer Salman Rushdie after he was condemned to death by Iran’s Ayatollah Khomeini. He became the chief legal advisor to the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, and was an inspirational figure in the creation of human rights law centres at universities from Brazil to Japan.

			As the rain poured down relentlessly, another Essex colleague, Françoise Hampson, delivered the final eulogy. Thin, intense, with a rapid-fire delivery, she was one of the world’s leading experts on the law of war, but she was like a sister to Boyle. ‘They were joined at the hip,’ Joan Boyle recalled. ‘He would bring her home to dinner. They would drink red wine, Kevin would smoke his pipe, Françoise would smoke cigarettes, and they would argue and argue, usually about points of law. They would go outside. Kevin would walk her home, but they would stop to continue arguing. Then they would get to her house and continue arguing.’

			Hampson told the mourners about the dozens of cases she and Boyle had brought to the European Court of Human Rights in the 1990s on behalf of Kurdish villagers savagely treated by the Turkish state – cases that required difficult, often dangerous journeys to distant corners of Turkey, shadowed by government agents, as they met with grieving mothers and widows. After learning of Boyle’s death, Kurdish activists had called Joan to say that they wanted to erect of statue of Kevin in the mainly Kurdish city of Diyarbakır to honour what he had done for them.

			In her eulogy, Hampson observed that it was not simply what Boyle did that had attracted the overflowing crowd. ‘It is who he was,’ she said. ‘For Kevin was loved at least as much as he was respected.’4 Indeed, for a man who had spent much of his life engaged with some of the world’s most divisive issues and bitter conflicts, the immense goodwill he generated – and his lack of enemies, even among those who had been his adversaries, was striking. ‘I wouldn’t say that about many people,’ recalled Hurst Hannum, ‘but everybody liked Kevin.’ This view was endorsed by newspaper stories about his death. The Belfast Telegraph described him as ‘an internationally respected inspirational figure’,5 while, to the Irish Independent, he was a ‘truly good man who lived and breathed human rights’.6 And just before the funeral, Joan had received a letter from a retired member of the Royal Ulster Constabulary, Northern Ireland’s police force, an organization that had been the target of much of Boyle’s early activism. The police officer wrote how, at the height of the Troubles, he would visit Kevin’s home regularly for drinks and ‘late night debates, where we constantly surprised each other by how much we agreed, the civil rights champion and the RUC man’.7

			Hampson recalled how ‘Kevin was the same with everyone, from cleaners to heads of state. You did not need to be a colleague or a student to be sucked up into his care and concern. Once taken under Kevin’s wing, you stayed there.’8 This view was endorsed by generations of his students, for whom Boyle was not simply a professor but a beloved teacher, mentor, colleague and guide. In the words of one colleague, Boyle ‘spawned a global battalion of pragmatic optimists, all of whom contributed, in an infinite variety of ways, to the advancement of human rights’.9

			So many of Boyle’s students at the University of Essex had become important figures in the world of human rights that, within the field, they were known as the ‘Essex mafia’. On this day, they included the chief legal advisor for Médecins Sans Frontières, officials from Human Rights Watch, Amnesty International, and former students working on human rights from Britain, Turkey and South Sudan. Messages from those who were unable to attend the funeral flooded Joan Boyle’s inbox, coming from Jamaica, Japan, Uzbekistan, Uganda and Malawi. A Turkish student working at the European Commission on Human Rights wrote that what Boyle had ‘done for the hundreds of victims of human rights violations in Turkey and elsewhere will never be forgotten’.10 And from Malawi, former student Zolomphi Nkowani, now a human rights lawyer, wrote: ‘His tremendous contribution to the cause is one of the greatest gifts he had left us all.’11

			In the thirty-four years that Kevin and Joan Boyle were married, he often described his career as a combination of ‘three ‘A’s: academic, advocate and activist’. Yet Joan, in her words, was ‘astounded’ by the outpouring of tributes from so many quarters. ‘The same words came up again and again.’ It wasn’t that she and her sons were unaware of what Kevin had done. ‘The boys and I knew all about the projects Kevin was involved with, as he talked non-stop about them at mealtimes, always enthusing about something – or in the case of some of the Kurdish cases, having to be silenced as the graphic details of some of the horrors were not suitable for mealtimes.’

			Although Boyle’s warmth and Irish charm were legendary – as were his consummate political skills – he was such a modest, unassuming person that it would never have occurred to him to describe the impact of his work, and of how people responded to him, in the way that so many were now doing. Joan recalled attending a freedom of expression conference with Boyle in Oslo not long before he was diagnosed with lung cancer. They spotted a booth for Article 19, the freedom of expression advocacy organization of which Kevin had served as director in the late 1980s:

			We went over. Kevin talked to them about the importance of their work and then moved on. I was really frustrated about this, as I thought they would have been very excited to meet the organization’s founding director. So after Kevin had moved on, I told them. I then persuaded him to go back and talk some more about his work. But this was quite typical. I was left to do the bragging.

			As Pia Jennings, a former student who had gone on to work for the Irish Human Rights Commission in Dublin, wrote to Joan, ‘he was the most humble man I have ever met. He rarely spoke of his many achievements in life, preferring instead to hear about his students’ interests and visions for the future.’12

			Joan later recalled that ‘we never saw the joined-up picture until people from every one of Kevin’s projects and adventures all came upon us at once’ at the funeral. ‘That was what was astounding – the extent of what he had been involved with and what he had achieved.’ Indeed, to Hannum, what was striking about Boyle was how he evolved from a civil rights leader in ‘a little place’ like Northern Ireland to being a leader on the global stage of international human rights. ‘It was so much broader than anything else that anyone else from Northern Ireland ever did.’ Of all the activists who came to prominence during the Troubles, Boyle was ‘the only one who escaped or grew into anyone who had a much more global influence, that wasn’t just about Northern Ireland’.

			In his lectures, Boyle would stop at critical moments, look at the class and ask, ‘Are you with me?’ To the students, the double-edged meaning was clear. Did they understand the material? And were they with him in the fight for human rights, in which, through his teaching, he provided the weapons?

			It was no accident that the first prayer chosen for the funeral service, composed by the great British hymnist John Dudley Smith, was for ‘those whose freedom has been taken from them … and in whose heart the lamp of hope burns low. God of mercy, give them hope.’

			Kevin Boyle spent his life trying to kindle that hope.
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			[1] The King

			Kevin Boyle did not meet a Protestant until he was seventeen. 

			Born on 23 May 1943, he was the fourth of nine children in a devoutly Catholic family living in Newry, an overwhelmingly Catholic town just a few miles north of Northern Ireland’s border with the Irish Republic. When Ireland was partitioned in July 1921, despite calls from local residents that Newry and its surrounding hinterland be incorporated into the newly established Republic, the town and County Down were made part of Northern Ireland, where Protestants outnumbered Catholics two to one. 

			Kevin’s father, Louis, the youngest of six brothers, was born in 1910 in Whitecross, a village of a few hundred people, almost all Catholics, a few miles from Newry. In the late 1920s the family moved to Newry and established a ‘Hackney cab’ or taxi business. Kevin’s mother, Elizabeth McArdle, born in 1911, also came from a rural background – the tiny settlement of Aughnamoira, south of Newry. Her family were farmers, so poor that the young Elizabeth had to walk to school in bare feet. Although a good student with ambitions to become a teacher, poverty kept her from continuing her education. In keeping with the priorities of the time, her parents used what little they had to ensure that her brother Desmond Leo would stay in school. He eventually opened a chemist’s shop in Newry. For her part, Elizabeth followed her other brother Hugh John – and a long line of Irish people – to America at the age of sixteen, where she spent three years working as a barmaid in Boston. Returning home to help nurse her younger sister Bridget, who was dying of TB, Elizabeth met Louis Boyle. They were married in 1939.

			Their nine children – Anne, Desmond, Finola, Kevin, Eugene, Bernadette, Louis, Jim and Damian – arrived in quick succession.

			For the first few years of their married life, Louis and Elizabeth lived with their rapidly expanding family in a flat above the chemist’s shop run by Elizabeth’s brother in the centre of Newry. To keep his taxi company afloat, Louis worked long hours, seven days a week. He had two vehicles, an Austin 18 and, later, a black London taxi. It was a tough way to make a living, but Boyle’s Taxis became well known in Newry, and Louis soon saved enough to purchase a three-storey terrace house with an adjoining garage at 37a Castle Street in one of Newry’s oldest areas, next to McCann’s, a well-known local bakery. It was here that Kevin and his siblings grew up.

			The house was cosy, filled with a mixture of smells: bread baking next door, their father’s pipe, and coal from the fire in the living room. With a family of eleven packed into five bedrooms, however, it was more than a little cramped. As the oldest, Anne was entitled to her own room, but the two other girls had to share, as did the boys: Kevin, Louis and Jim in one room, and Desmond, Eugene and Damian in another. There was only one toilet. With the raw Irish weather, the children often did their homework wrapped up in blankets. Hot water came from a back boiler behind the coal fire. One bath a week was the routine, and the water generally had to be shared.

			Kevin described his father as a taciturn man who was always working. Eugene, a year younger than Kevin, remembered him as ‘very strict, a hard man who took no nonsense’. Louis, two years younger than Eugene, recalled their father as withdrawn around visitors, and often volatile, with sharp mood swings and a temper. ‘If you stepped out of line, a beating was in order. But when my father did beat you, he quickly calmed down and offered you a cup of tea.’ His sister Finola, in a short autobiographical reminiscence published years later, wrote of her father: ‘He hadn’t had much of an education, but was a born leader, and reckoned a holy terror when you did wrong. Under it, though, he had a heart of pure gold and a great sense of humour. He could shake with great laughter for minutes at a time, the pipe dangling dangerously from his mouth.’1

			Elizabeth – or Lilly, as her husband always called her – was more outgoing and ‘kind in every way’,2 according to Finola, but the family largely kept itself to itself. ‘The whole family was regarded as a wee bit eccentric,’ Kevin recalled years later, ‘because we didn’t mix very well. We imitated our parents in having few outside contacts. All of us spent a lot of time at home. We were not encouraged to go out anywhere. We were not encouraged to make a lot of friends.’3

			Kevin grew up a gentle child, his brother Eugene recalling him as ‘quiet and thoughtful, with his own ideas’. He disliked arguing, bullying and any sort of conflict. Even when he was little, he played the role of family peacemaker, seeking to resolve the inevitable quarrels that erupted in a crowded house with so many children. As Eugene remembered, ‘Kevin was the intermediary, always saying “calm down, calm down”.’ It was a role he continued to play as an adult. He was especially close to his mother. Years later, after he had become a prominent public figure, a friend of his mother’s saw him on television and wrote to remind him that he had been ‘a good little boy’. 

			For the Boyle family, life revolved around the Church. ‘We were steeped in religion,’ Kevin’s brother Louis recalled. ‘That was probably the most abiding theme throughout our early lives.’ Newry Cathedral was just a few minutes’ walk from their home, close enough to hear the bells for morning Mass and evening devotions. ‘Our mother was a very holy woman,’ wrote Finola. ‘She cycled to Mass almost every day of the year, rising up early for the first one just after six.’4 For the Boyle children, going to mass, communion and confession every week was non-negotiable. During Lent, they were required to attend mass every morning before school, as well as to participate in a week-long mission held by one of the local religious orders. Every evening, each child had to say the Rosary. ‘We had to recite it ten times,’ said Louis. ‘Father called on each child to lead.’ Giggling or a lack of seriousness would produce a menacing glare from their father. At the St Patrick’s and St Coleman’s Cathedral on Hill Street, Louis was a choir boy, while Kevin served six years as an altar boy.

			The intense Catholicism was reinforced at school. A hundred yards down the street from the Boyle home sat the Abbey Christian Brothers Grammar School. Established in 1802 by the Irish businessman Edmund Rice, the Christian Brothers were a Catholic religious order whose mission was to educate the children of the poor. The first President of the Irish Republic, Éamon de Valera, attended a Brothers school, as did several subsequent Irish taoisigh (prime ministers), as well as important figures in Northern Ireland. The Christian Brothers later became enmeshed in scandal, with widespread reports of physical and sexual abuse in schools run by the order throughout Ireland, although the school the Boyle boys attended in Newry was never tainted with such allegations.5 

			The curriculum at the Christian Brothers school was explicitly Catholic, with a heavy dose of Irish nationalism for good measure, expressed in the promotion of the Irish language as well as Gaelic football and hurling. Soccer was derided as a ‘foreign’ game. Kevin’s brother Louis described the curriculum as a form of indoctrination, reinforced by relentless pressure to study and harsh punishments for misbehaviour. The children’s parents constantly encouraged them to consider vocations in the Church – priesthood for the boys, nuns for the girls. 

			Early on, Kevin displayed strong academic potential, excelling in Irish, Latin and history. At home, his early nickname was Big Head. ‘It’s all them brains in there, packed with promise,’ one of his aunts said.6 Later, according to Finola, ‘he cleverly twisted the name to suit himself. First the “Big” was dropped, and for a while he was known as “Head”, then by some further manoeuvring “Head” became “King”, finally immortalized as “The King”.’7 Stories of some younger classmate arriving at the Boyle home and announcing ‘The King’s forgotten his football boots. I’m here to fetch them’ became part of family lore. While this reflected Kevin’s emerging leadership skills, he treated the nickname as a joke. Indeed, most of the Boyle boys had nicknames. Jim was ‘Bimmer’ and Eugene, after an incident in which he killed a chicken, became ‘Pierrepoint’, named for the last hangman in Britain. Damian, last of the boys to attend the mixed Infants School run by the local nuns, was known as ‘Baby Nun’.

			Anne, Finola and Bernadette attended the Sacred Heart grammar and primary school, run by the Sisters of St Clare. Even in the conservative Catholic tradition, the nuns, called Poor Clares, were known for their austerity, with shaved heads and a demeanour the Boyle children remembered as ‘very mysterious and bizarre’. As Finola wrote, ‘The nuns were a terror.’8 

			Louis Boyle recalled that it was a struggle for each child to assert individuality and independence in such a big family. Desmond, Jim and Louis played on various Gaelic football teams run by the school. Kevin was brains not brawn, and showed little interest in, or aptitude for, sports, except swimming. Louis, in particular, looked up to his older brother and often sought his advice. ‘Kevin and Louis were mates,’ Eugene recalled. ‘They had a special comradeship.’

			Elizabeth Boyle pushed her children to become avid readers. ‘She very much influenced us towards education,’ Kevin recalled:

			Whenever she bought presents, she always bought books. She created an atmosphere. You did your homework, and then, along with everybody else, you sat around reading books. It was perfectly normal in our house for five or six people to be sitting around different parts of the living room reading books for hours on end.9 

			Kevin’s favourite books were the classics like Robinson Crusoe and Moby-Dick – both of which depicted adventures in far-off places – or the novels of Dickens and Hardy, to which his mother introduced him. These were augmented by the cowboy stories his mother’s brother Hugh John would send from America. Kevin devoured books, attaining a reading level well beyond his age and acquiring a manner so serious and studious, Joan would later tease him by asking if he had even been a child. 

			The family also listened regularly to the BBC Home Service on the radio, especially the news. Despite her initial scepticism about television, in 1957 the Boyles became one of the first families on Castle Street to acquire a TV set. Westerns were especially popular, and each week some of the teachers from the Christian Brothers school would come to the Boyle home to watch the Western series Bonanza. Kevin would later joke that this is what probably saved him from the worst of the punishments the Brothers inflicted at school.

			Pretending to study also became the children’s excuse for avoiding household tasks. According to Kevin, ‘If you wanted to get out of some chore, you always said you were studying, and she [my mother] never challenged it, even though she knew it was a lie half the time.’10 

			The Boyles escaped the rigours of church and school by hanging out on the streets, which at the time had very few cars. ‘Everyone knew one another,’ Louis said. ‘The boys played handball, hide-and-seek, marbles and football. The girls played hopscotch, swing around the lamppost, and skipping.’ In the autumn there were excursions to gather blackberries, which the more entrepreneurial kids sold to local grocers for half a crown a bucket. In the summer, they took turns visiting a farm outside Newry run by a cousin of their mother’s, Sissie Bradley, and her husband John. They stayed in an old farmhouse and helped to care for the hens, turkeys, geese, horses, cows, pigs, goats and a donkey.11 Even the non-athletic Kevin pitched in, milking the cows, cleaning out manure, collecting eggs from the hen house, cutting hay and harvesting the corn, making the most of any opportunity to spend time away from the city. ‘From my memories,’ Louis said, ‘these were magical days.’

			Beneath the veneer of small-town tranquillity and the daily routine of classes, mass, homework and reading, however, Northern Ireland remained a society in which political and sectarian tensions were never far from the surface. One evening in November 1956, as thirteen-year-old Kevin was climbing over one of his brothers to go to sleep in their shared bed, there was a loud explosion. ‘A bomb shook the house,’ he remembered. ‘We were thrown out of bed, and I fell on top [of my brother].’12

			The Irish Republican Army had blown up the local labour exchange just a hundred yards away. It was the start of what became known as the ‘border campaign’, an ultimately abortive assault on Northern Ireland’s British connection. But even though the campaign petered out, it highlighted the tensions in the six counties that would soon shape the trajectory of Boyle’s life, and on which he in turn would have a major influence.

			When Kevin Boyle’s parents were born, Ireland was still part of the United Kingdom, in effect a British colony. Three-quarters of its population of just under three million people were, like the Boyle family, Catholics, descended from the native Irish who had lived on the island for centuries and consistently resisted British attempts to exert control. For most Irish Catholics, Britain was an alien occupier who had forced them from their lands and denied them basic rights. The remaining inhabitants were Protestants, descendants of the Scottish and English settlers who, with the encouragement of successive British governments, had emigrated to Ireland in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. The Protestants were concentrated largely in parts of the north-east province of the island and its main city Belfast, where they built a prosperous industrial economy around linen, ship-building and engineering. The Protestants were committed to a union with Britain, finding more in common with great Victorian industrial cities like Manchester and Liverpool than with Dublin, and strongly opposed any efforts to weaken the link with the United Kingdom.

			In April 1916 a group of radical Irish nationalists seized the centre of Dublin and declared an independent Irish Republic in what became known as the Easter Rising. After a week of fierce fighting, the Rising was crushed. The British captured and executed its leaders, among them socialist revolutionary James Connolly, who had been badly wounded after the surrender only to be transported from a prison hospital on a stretcher, propped up and shot dead.

			Such treatment, not only of Connolly but of other leading figures in the revolt, fuelled popular anger and boosted support for the rebels’ cause. In a general election of November 1918, the nationalist party, Sinn Féin, won a landslide victory in Ireland and, in defiance of London, formally declared independence. This sparked a savage guerrilla war in which the Irish Republican Army – Sinn Féin’s military wing – fought to drive the British out. In the north of the island, however, the Protestant unionists wanted no part of an independent Ireland. While the twenty-six counties in the rest of Ireland became an independent nation under a negotiated settlement in 1921, six of the nine counties in Ulster – areas with a Protestant majority but a significant Catholic minority – were carved off and became the statelet of Northern Ireland, technically still part of the United Kingdom but with its own parliament at Stormont, just outside Belfast. 

			In what is now the Republic of Ireland, the settlement triggered a civil war between those prepared to accept a Treaty whereby the fledgling state would have ‘dominion’ status within the British empire, would acknowledge partition of the North, and would have members of its new parliament take an oath of allegiance to King George V, and those unwilling to do any of the above. After two years of bloody fighting, the pro-Treaty forces won, while many, on both sides, still did not accept the legitimacy of Northern Ireland.

			From the beginning, the North was deeply divided, ‘composed of two communities who shared the same area but owed their allegiance to two different nations’.13 The half-a-million Catholics and million Protestants regarded themselves as beleaguered minorities – the Catholics in the North, and the Protestants in the entire island of Ireland. 

			For the Protestants, this sense of perpetual anxiety – the fear of being sold out by Britain and forced into a predominantly Catholic united Ireland – fuelled a deep suspicion of the largely nationalist Catholic community in their midst, and it became the defining feature of the newly created state. Convinced that the only way to prevent Irish unification was to maintain political power at all costs, unionist leaders built their new state on the basis of permanent Protestant majority rule, in which Catholics faced systematic discrimination, principally in housing, jobs and political rights – issues that became central to Kevin Boyle’s political awakening. 

			Protestant supremacy was ensured by the flagrant gerrymandering of electoral districts to ensure perpetual unionist control, even in parts of the province where Catholics were a majority, and by control of law and order. A draconian piece of legislation called the Special Powers Act, introduced in 1922, gave the authorities sweeping powers of arrest; these included internment without trial, backed by an entirely Protestant armed auxiliary police force known as the B Specials, a body that ‘enjoyed a reputation in Catholic Ulster that induced paranoid terror and hatred’.14 Campaigning for the abolition of the Special Powers Act was one of the first causes Kevin embraced when he became an activist. Underpinning these measures was the Orange Order, an exclusively Protestant fraternal organization founded in the eighteenth century, which saw itself as the primary institution opposing Catholic influence; it staged regular parades to assert Protestant dominance. Orange Order members held nearly all senior government positions. 

			Sectarian divisions and institutionalized discrimination were woven into the DNA of Northern Ireland. They were underscored by a famous quote from Sir James Craig, Northern Ireland’s Unionist Party prime minister in the 1930s: ‘All I boast is that we are a Protestant Parliament and Protestant State.’15 

			The Catholic Church was allowed to go about its business running schools and hospitals, offering services and organizing social and recreational activities for the minority community. Indeed, the unionists were more than happy that the Catholic Church was itself not enthusiastic about integration and discouraged its flock from casual socializing with Protestants. But the ruling establishment and the Protestant population still clearly regarded the Catholics as second-class citizens.

			As a child in what he would later describe as the ‘small-town, inward-looking, narrow-minded puritan society’16 of predominantly Catholic Newry, Kevin Boyle was largely oblivious of these larger issues. Indeed, because of the town’s large Catholic majority, there was nothing like the overt sectarian discrimination that existed in other parts of Northern Ireland. In Newry, he recalled, ‘the Catholics never felt themselves threatened. My family was not political. My father never talked about politics. One of the reasons was that … as a taxi driver he had an image of himself as serving everybody.’17 

			‘There was absolutely no bigotry [against Protestants] in our house,’ Louis Boyle recalled. ‘My father had customers on both sides.’ And Elizabeth Boyle had an almost exaggerated respect for the British royal family. Still, the sense of separateness remained. The Boyles, although not poor, were hardly well-to-do, and generally viewed the Protestants of Newry as different – people who lived in big, solid houses and led untroubled, orderly lives. Kevin’s sister Anne claimed that she could always tell a Protestant by their ‘sallow skin’. Ironically, Kevin’s future wife, Joan, growing up in a rural Protestant community at the same time, had been taught to believe that Protestants could always identify a Catholics because it was they who were sallow.

			Despite his Catholic surroundings, Kevin did not develop a strong Irish identity. ‘I was never really happy with an exclusive identity. I was as happy to be part of both countries.’18 And he did not share the same sense of burning resentment and anger towards Protestants or the political structure in Northern Ireland which motivated many Northern Catholics – resentment that fuelled the IRA campaign and produced the bomb blast that toppled Kevin from his bed, and that would surface even more dramatically at the end of the 1960s.

			By the mid-1950s, as he entered his teens, Boyle began to have doubts about religion and the society around him. ‘Religion was a big problem,’ he would say years later. ‘The thing didn’t move me at all. My going to church was difficult for me because I felt it was wrong.’19 

			Despite these feelings, he continued to serve as head altar boy. A photo of Kevin aged twelve shows him dressed in religious robes, staring ahead with calm determination. But his heart wasn’t in it:

			I had got to the point where I was playing a role. Those experiences allowed me to appear in public where one was extremely visible and yet not visible. You get to realize people cannot know what’s going on in your mind. If you stand up and appear to be confident, people will see you as that. In a way, confidence is your capacity to play roles consciously.20 

			As a teenager, Boyle experienced what he described as a ‘very normal adolescent search for personal meaning’.21 His reading evolved away from the family classics, and shifted to a new hero in the form of John Osborne, the English writer whose 1956 play Look Back in Anger depicted the disillusionment and alienation from conventional values of his post-war younger generation, and gave rise to the term ‘angry young men’. Kevin saw something of himself in Jimmy Porter, Osborne’s anti-hero, a young working-class man filled with fury at Britain’s privileged classes, the oppressiveness of organized religion and the lack of social justice.22 

			In the summer of 1957, when he was fourteen, Boyle attended a month-long Church-run camp in County Donegal, across the border, to study the Irish language. Damien Daley, a close friend who also participated, recalled that ‘Kevin was one of the few to take the experience seriously’. While Daley and others paid little attention to their language classes and ‘lived life to the full in sporting events and social gatherings in the evening’, Boyle wandered through the hills, stopping at the homes of local farmers to practise his Irish, a ‘free spirit kicking against the trend’.23 

			Boyle also became friendly with Eamonn McCann, a young man from Northern Ireland’s second-largest city Derry (which Protestants called Londonderry). ‘The Derry boys’, as Daley remembered, ‘were years ahead of us Newry boys, spurning the edicts of the priests. Already politically aware and anti-church, they had a defiance that they clung to.’24 Late one night, in what was then an act of rebellion, McCann and Boyle went swimming with some young women, and were discovered by a priest. ‘This was not allowed, of course,’ Boyle recalled, ‘and the priests banished us. The young ladies were excused, because we had misled them.’25 

			Expelled from the camp three days before it was due to end, Kevin did not dare go home, fearing his mother’s wrath. Instead, he went to stay with McCann in Derry. After seeing a film in the city centre one evening, the two were walking back to McCann’s house in the Catholic working-class neighbourhood known as the Bogside, ‘whooping it up for no reason, running about and trying to jump and hit street signs with our hands, and just generally being a nuisance’.26 The two exuberant teenagers were stopped by a police officer who asked for their names. McCann, a city kid savvy about Northern Ireland’s religious fault lines and suspicious of the predominantly Protestant police, gave a fake name. Kevin followed suit, giving his own name as John Smith.27 A few years later, as leaders of the civil rights movement, Boyle and McCann would be involved in very different interactions.

			Growing up in a Catholic home in a largely Catholic town, Kevin had almost nothing to do with Protestants. That changed when he was seventeen. One day he was sitting in a Newry café eyeing up an attractive young woman when another young man came over and said, ‘Well, you fancy her too.’ They began chatting and after leaving the café together, walked through the centre of town before the young man said goodbye and entered the local Protestant Social Club. He was the first Protestant Boyle had met:

			I had already picked up little clues from the fact that he was my age and wasn’t in the same school as me. I discovered he was at the state school. The majority of the student population would not have come into contact in seventeen years with Protestant girls or boys, who were in a minority in the town. There were few opportunities for meeting.28

			Despite their different backgrounds, the two boys discovered that they had enough in common to meet again. When they did, each found the other to be disenchanted with the narrow, parochial environment in which they’d been raised. ‘I talked a little bit about my growing dissatisfaction with the whole situation of a separate education. He said the same, and said he was hoping quite soon to get to Queen’s [University Belfast]. I said I was hoping to go there too.’29 

			Even before this chance encounter, Kevin ‘was aware there was something wrong’ with Northern Ireland,30 but, looking back years later, he said he simply did not know enough to be clear in his own mind of just what the problem was. Already, however, he had soured on the educational system. He called it ‘The Evil of the Three S’s’ – a system that was segregated, sectarian and selective. ‘I opposed segregation in terms of the sexes, and sectarian divisions on religion, and the selective basis whereby there was only a proportion who got an opportunity at a better education. And I believed that a system had to develop which ended all those three.’31 

			Yet, even as Kevin’s disillusionment with the education system grew, he was poised to benefit from one of the most important educational reforms ever enacted in Northern Ireland. In the aftermath of World War II, the Labour government in London passed a series of measures that created the modern British welfare state. The 1947 Education Act dramatically increased educational opportunities for lower-income families, and the number of Catholics able to attend university grew significantly. This, in turn, underpinned the growth of a Catholic middle class, some of whose members, like Kevin Boyle, were to play crucial roles in the political upheavals to come. ‘There are two things for a Catholic to do to break out of the system here: either become educated or emigrate,’ he noted.32 Eventually, all nine Boyle children would receive university degrees or obtain professional/managerial qualifications. In the autumn of 1961, Kevin enrolled in Queen’s University Belfast.
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			[2] A Kind of Revolt

			At the start of the 1960s, Belfast was still a mostly Victorian city, ringed by dark green hills, its streets lined by red-brick buildings dating back to the previous century. The skyline was dominated by the giant cranes of the Harland and Wolff shipyard, erected at the peak of the Industrial Revolution and used to build the Titanic. The damp air was rich with the smell of coal, and red and white double-decker buses and trams, cars and the occasional horse-drawn cart jostled for space on the roads. In the centre of the city was the majestic City Hall, built in 1906 to celebrate the city’s industrial prowess at the height of empire. 

			Spreading out from the city centre were the slums where lived Belfast’s working class, who had supplied labour for the mills and shipyards. These communities were similar in their crowded, damp and squalid Victorian houses, usually without a toilet or bathroom, though sharply divided along sectarian lines.

			West Belfast, with the Falls Road winding through its heartland, was mainly Catholic. Adjacent to the Falls was the Protestant Shankill Road, the demarcation line for a heavily Protestant area running northwards. Across the river Lagan, east Belfast was overwhelmingly Protestant, except for a tiny Catholic enclave of 6000 citizens in the Short Strand. The two communities lived close together, yet had very little contact. When the Troubles erupted in the late 1960s, the Falls and the Shankill would become synonymous with violence. When Kevin Boyle arrived at Queen’s University in 1961, communal clashes of earlier decades were largely a memory, and daily life was marked by an uneasy coexistence.

			The Queen’s campus was located in the southern part of the city, a middle-class and mixed area, insulated from the grime and sectarianism of other parts of the city. Michael Emmerson, an Englishman from Shakespeare’s birthplace, Stratford-upon-Avon, who entered Queen’s at the same time as Boyle, remembered the university as ‘a really great oasis, a kind of sanctuary, and religious tolerance was sacrosanct’.

			The university was a major centre of non-sectarian education, having accepted Catholics since its foundation in 1845. With post-war educational reforms, the number of students from poorer families increased. In the early sixties, Catholic students formed about a fifth of the student body. Its tree-lined campus provided a tranquil environment where students from different backgrounds could interact.

			Like Boyle, most Catholic students had come from Church-run secondary schools. For many, the opportunity to break free of their narrow upbringing was a liberation. Nobel Prize-winning poet Seamus Heaney, a native of County Derry who had attended a Catholic boarding school and who would later become a friend of Boyle’s, graduated with a degree in English the year Boyle arrived. ‘Going to Queen’s you met people from other schools,’ Heaney told an interviewer. ‘You met other accents, other mores. You met women, which was a new development. I would say sectarian differences mattered nil.’1

			‘I mixed with Protestants and Catholics,’ Boyle recalled. ‘There was no question of any religious consciousness at all except that Catholics would sometimes joke among themselves about the repressiveness of the Church.’2

			Struggling to find himself, with no clear idea of what he wanted to do, Kevin decided to study law for the most unsubstantial of reasons: because his favourite footballer had become a lawyer.3 He discovered that the vast majority of his fellow law students were the children of solicitors or came from people connected with the legal system or the government. According to Kevin, he and one or two other law students formed ‘a disgruntled minority who were there to pursue law for no obvious reason’.4 Boyle soon found himself ‘bored to death’ with the rote memorization of laws, regulations and other practical matters, but he struck up a particularly warm relationship with James Louis Montrose, who had been a professor and dean of the Queen’s law faculty since the late 1930s. 

			J.L. Montrose was a towering figure at the university, but was also known for supporting an innovative approach to the teaching of law. In writings and speeches – often over the strong opposition of a highly conservative legal profession – he advocated what he called a ‘joint adventure of ideas’, the notion that law students should also be exposed to a broader liberal education. ‘It is not true,’ Montrose wrote, 

			that the undergraduate is the passive recipient of facts … The student must learn how to pursue facts and to evaluate them; the teacher must ever be humble before old and new truths … At a university, the undergraduate … acquires freedom to think for himself, rejecting subordination to mere authority, liberating himself from prejudice but accepting bondage to truth.5 

			Montrose was so intimidating that many students were afraid to engage with him, but he became an important influence as Boyle searched for an intellectual framework for his still-evolving world view. Montrose, Boyle recalled, had a tremendous intellect:

			I was very much the envy of the majority [of students] because I could handle this extraordinary man who didn’t conform to the kind of image of teachers that they expected and who didn’t talk about practical matters but more about abstract and general questions that also interested me. He encouraged my interests in jurisprudence or philosophical aspects of law against the more practical matters.6

			This was just one way in which Boyle was moving away from the rigid Catholic values and limitations of his upbringing. ‘I made a conscious effort when I was at Queen’s to live with nobody from Newry,’ he recalled. ‘I still had a few Catholic school friends or nationalist background people, but I usually selected English or Protestant. It was a kind of revolt from a background which I then regarded as demeaning me.’7 

			One of those friends was John Phillips, a chemistry major from Plymouth, who met Boyle in the autumn of their first year when both became involved with the Queen’s Drama Society. They would later share a flat on Eglantine Avenue near the campus. Phillips remembered Boyle as usually wearing jeans and an old sweater and ‘sucking noisily on his pipe’, an affectation Kevin picked up from his father while still in his teens, and one he continued throughout his life. His father had always believed that smoking a pipe was less hazardous to one’s health than smoking cigarettes.

			For Boyle, Phillips, Emmerson and many other Queen’s students, the Drama Society or ‘Dramsoc’, became the centre of their life outside the classroom. It was a consciously non-sectarian club, although Protestant members vastly outnumbered the Catholics. ‘Its parties, where sing-songs alternated between nationalist and loyalist tunes … drew students from around the university, including those who had nothing to do with productions’.8 

			The Drama Society became what Boyle called ‘an alternative career’, consuming much of his energy. ‘My main undergraduate engagement was the theatre. Theatre was a much bigger part of my experience as a student than politics. I wasn’t really very engaged politically. I was more interested in changing the world, excited by ideas, music – and theatre.’9

			With no interest in acting, Boyle became Dramsoc’s lighting expert. ‘I remember him as being passionately technical’, said Michael Emmerson, who ended up directing most of the Dramsoc productions and would in 1962 establish the Belfast Festival, which quickly became the largest arts festival in Ireland and was still going strong more than half a century later. ‘Kevin was terrific. He always got things done and got things solved.’ Friends like John Phillips wondered where he had acquired the technical skills. Boyle never explained his secret: that his father had taught his sons how to clean and fix cars, and how to undertake home repairs. ‘All of us were involved in the enterprise of tearing down the house and rebuilding it. We became plumbers, electricians, carpenters.’10 Still, as Phillips noted, ‘Those were the days of heavy manual dimmers [rheostats] and hot tungsten filaments, so there were a lot of ampères available – rehearsals were accompanied by occasional flashes, bangs, and the smell of burning insulation.’

			During his time at Queen’s, Boyle lit numerous plays, but his favourite, ‘the greatest’, he called it, was Beckett’s Waiting for Godot. The play, a classic of the Theatre of the Absurd, which became popular in the late 1950s and early 1960s, features two tramps waiting for a man, Godot, who never arrives. The attempt to make sense of a world that seemed incomprehensible resonated with Boyle and his friends. ‘It reflected the existentialist/absurdist flavour that was in the air at that time,’ Phillips said. ‘Samuel Beckett became an icon.’ 

			In 1961 the Drama Society had hoped to participate in the Edinburgh Fringe, an alternative theatre and arts festival held in August in conjunction with the more formal Edinburgh Festival. Unfortunately, the students could not raise the necessary funds, find accommodation, or secure a performance venue, and were unable to go. The following year Emmerson formed the Queen’s Players, with members, including Boyle, drawn mostly from Dramsoc, and managed to make the necessary arrangements. For six weeks the group stayed in an empty Edinburgh University hall of residence with no furniture and no hot water, and put on one full-length play and three one-act productions, all written by Queen’s students.

			The Queen’s Players were consciously irreverent and cheeky. Their Edinburgh programme flyer acknowledged ‘Stage by McKee and Co. (Belfast) Ltd’, ‘Fabrics by Tibor’ and then ‘Stout by Guinness’ and ‘Spaghetti Bolognese by Heinz’. But they soon ran into serious trouble.

			One of their short plays was called The Jesus Revolution, written by a well-respected student playwright, John Hamilton. As Emmerson recalled, the play was structured ‘as an interview between a psychiatrist and his patient – God and Jesus Christ’, with Jesus depicted as a rebellious son. 

			It was a daring move for the times, deliberately designed to court controversy because, as Boyle noted, ‘not only did they have Christ on the stage, but he was black’.11 Emmerson had cast Max Enchill, a Nigerian student at Queen’s, to play the role of Jesus. 

			Even more controversial was the fact that the students suddenly found themselves accused of violating Britain’s centuries-old blasphemy law. Even in the 1960s, all plays had to be licensed by the Lord Chamberlain before they could be presented to the public, and The Jesus Revolution was banned because, at that time, it was forbidden to represent either God or Christ on stage.

			It was Boyle’s first personal encounter with an issue to which he would devote much of his professional life – combating censorship – and it led him to publish his first article. In a piece entitled ‘Queen’s Christ Banned’ for the student newspaper The Gown, he wrote that the banning of the play ‘caused considerable furore’.12 

			There was, however, a way out. The law did allow such productions to be shown at a private ‘theatre club’, as long as everyone attending was a member and no one paid admission. So the students formed a ‘club’, got people to sign up, and did several performances of The Jesus Revolution at lunchtimes with restricted entry in the same venue where their other plays were being shown in the evenings. Every day ‘we had CID [Criminal Investigation Department] and the police and all kinds of people checking that nobody was buying tickets at the door’, said Emmerson. ‘When public decency was at stake, officialdom became very officious.’

			Despite his modest and often introspective nature, Boyle had been attracted to Dramsoc in part because it represented a challenge to conventional wisdom, and his willingness to speak out against the banning of the play was an important step for him. His openness to fresh thinking was reinforced when he and his friends would meet regularly at a number of favourite watering holes just off campus to argue and debate, while consuming copious amounts of alcohol. As John Phillips recalled: ‘There was much drink taken, sometimes too much. On one occasion, I literally carried Kevin home on my shoulder.’ In a journal Boyle kept as an undergraduate, he noted, ‘My drinking habits are by now legendary among a group, yet cannot give me much satisfaction.’13 

			Indeed, for all his exposure to theatre, music and new ideas, Boyle was still struggling to come to terms with his alienation from Catholicism, and, as a result, from his parents. In keeping with the youthful fashion trends of the early sixties, he grew his hair long, eliciting a pained response from his mother: ‘In your letter, you said your hair was longer than ever. I beg you don’t come home in that condition, as I’ve suffered tortures with Bimmy [younger brother Jim] and Louis with fringes at their noses. So a nice clean haircut please.’14 Because he knew his refusal to go to church would upset his parents, Boyle returned to Newry less and less frequently after he started at Queen’s. On one visit, he ostentatiously shined his shoes so his father would think he was off to church, but instead he went into the centre of town. 

			In the autumn of 1964, as Boyle entered his final year at Queen’s, his mother was diagnosed with incurable cancer. On 17 November 1964, she died. Elizabeth Boyle was only fifty-three. ‘Just at the time when, having devoted many years to home-making and rearing all of us and could take things a bit easier and watch with satisfaction and pride how her children were progressing,’ Kevin’s brother Louis wrote years later, ‘she was taken away. Life can be very unfair and cruel at times. It was a major blow for all of us.’15 The oldest child, Anne, had just taken a teaching job in Belfast, but had to give it up and return to Newry to help look after her father and younger siblings. 

			Kevin was devastated by his mother’s illness and death, his grief possibly mixed with guilt at his rejection of his parents’ core religious beliefs. His mother’s passing intensified his internal struggles and doubts. ‘He was horribly affected,’ his wife Joan would later say. ‘And there were no psychologists to help.’ A letter written to Boyle (which he kept) a week after his mother’s death by a former girlfriend named Lesley gives some sense of his bleak emotional state. ‘You are very depressed,’ she wrote. ‘You have started off the term rock bottom … with the desire to do nothing but drink.’16 

			In early 1965, musing about having been an altar boy before attending Queen’s, he wrote in his journal: ‘Here I am, four years later, at the opposite extreme, indifferent and atheistic.’17 Indeed, his mother’s death affected his studies, and in his diary he wrote of his ‘lack of interest in the [academic] results’.18

			At the same time, however, the sense of social injustice and the growing awareness of the contradictions of Northern Ireland, which had been stirring within him, began to crystallize. And it did so at a moment when the long-static situation in the North was beginning to change. As he described it: ‘There was an initial period … when people were talking about change and something had to be done.’ It couldn’t be called a movement in those years, he observed, but was more ‘a kind of fermentation’.19 

			In 1963, a liberal Unionist, Captain Terence O’Neill, became Northern Ireland’s prime minister. Educated at Eton and a veteran of World War II with a plummy British accent, O’Neill was a former minister of finance who sought to attract foreign investment and to develop the North’s economy. He knew success lay in bridging, even in a small way, the territory’s deep sectarian divide and securing Catholic acquiescence to what he hoped to project as a modern Northern Irish state. He reached out to the Catholic community, visiting Catholic schools – something his predecessors had never done – and was photographed with priests and nuns. In a dramatic gesture to ease the long-standing chill between the two Irelands, O’Neill welcomed Irish taoiseach Seán Lemass to Belfast in January 1965, and reciprocated by visiting Dublin a few months later. These moves came at a time when the mood in the Catholic community was itself changing. The failure of the IRA’s border campaign from 1956 to 1962, the benefits of the British welfare state, compared to the still-impoverished Republic, and the emergence of a Catholic middle class meant that the issue of partition was fading in importance. Growing numbers of Catholics cared less about the border and more about their status as second-class citizens in the North.

			In 1964 Dr Conn McCluskey and his wife Patricia, who lived in the rural town of Dungannon, formed the Campaign for Social Justice. At the time, Dungannon had a Catholic majority, but the Unionists had long controlled the local council, a situation that existed elsewhere, particularly in Derry. Because Northern Ireland law stipulated that only householders could vote in local government elections, the Unionists, to ensure their hold on power, had for years allocated only a handful of houses to Catholics in Dungannon, while giving hundreds to Protestants. Publishing pamphlets that documented sectarian discrimination and lobbying British politicians in London, the McCluskeys sought to make the case that since Northern Ireland was part of the United Kingdom, its residents ought to have the same rights as other British citizens. It was the first stirring of what would become the Northern Ireland civil rights movement.

			For all his symbolic gestures, however, Terence O’Neill’s approach remained cautious when it came to making concrete progress, and he could not escape the province’s long history of sectarianism. His efforts to build roads, clear slums, open a new university and attract foreign companies remained focused on the eastern, predominantly Protestant, part of Northern Ireland. Far fewer resources went into the more heavily Catholic western counties or the city of Derry. And O'Neill could not shake the prejudices of his background, patronizingly declaring that ‘If you treat Roman Catholics with due consideration and kindness, they will live like Protestants.’ 20 

			Even these tentative moves of O’Neill’s, however, sparked opposition from Unionist hardliners both within his party and outside. The sharpest criticism came from the Reverend Ian Paisley, a fundamentalist Protestant preacher with a booming voice and a deep hatred for all things Catholic, who launched an increasingly angry campaign against O’Neill’s reforms. Accusing him of being a traitor to Northern Ireland, and declaring that Catholics ‘breed like rabbits and multiply like vermin’,21 Paisley also regularly denounced the Pope, even staging a protest march when the Union Jack was lowered at Belfast City Hall following the death of Pope John XXIII. Paisley’s rowdy rallies periodically led to violence in the streets.

			For Boyle and his friends, Paisley seemed such a crackpot religious bigot that it was initially hard to take him seriously:

			I remember a dozen of us going along to a Paisley rally in the Ulster Hall … We had been drinking, and … we regarded it all as a big joke, shades of Germany and all that … We marched, Catholics and Protestants … One of us grabbed the flag, and off we rushed with the Union Jack down to the car, disappeared, and put it up on the wall of the flat. It was a joke, a prank.22 

			In the same vein, Boyle wrote a series of satirical articles, one of them describing the province as ‘Ulcer, 1984’. Yet he was also beginning to analyse the current situation more seriously, writing a long piece in his senior year about the contrast on Sundays in Belfast between the city’s Catholic and Protestant neighbourhoods – both deeply religious yet markedly different in character. He noted the ‘oppressiveness of the atmosphere’ in working-class Protestant areas – ‘no Sunday games, no Sunday parks, no anything but the bible’. In the Catholic Falls Road, however, he saw ‘a sense of community with a culture significantly different from the rest of Belfast … watching the crowds pour out of the churches, hundreds of children cleanly dressed, the fashion of the girls … for Sunday is a day to be seen and enjoy’. And, despite his youth and lack of political experience, he detected worrying undercurrents, predicting ‘a religious and political confusion that someday is going to burst’.23 Following up on his interest in free expression sparked by the banning of The Jesus Revolution, in 1964 Boyle wrote an article in a student magazine – New Ireland – about the still-strict censorship regulations in the Irish Republic, blaming the restriction on the strong Catholic influence in the Republic’s constitution.24

			His political understanding was slowly evolving. While it was confined at this point to intellectual exploration, though, a few of his Queen’s classmates – people who would later be his comrades in the struggle for civil rights – became involved in more direct political activity. Eamonn McCann was now studying psychology, and became president of Literific (Literary and Scientific Society), the university’s debating society. Boyle declined to join, citing the fact that he didn’t like formal debates, as he admitted to an interviewer a decade later. This was an interesting trait for someone who would soon become one of the most visible figures in the public debate about the future of Northern Ireland.25 

			In 1963 McCann had travelled to Britain to participate with thousands of others in a peace march organized by the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament – part of a burgeoning peace movement that would become even more active with the intensification of the American war in Vietnam. The following year he joined a small group of Queen’s students who worked on a report about anti-Catholic discrimination in the allocation of housing by the Derry Corporation, the city’s Unionist-controlled local government.26 

			A classmate of McCann’s, Nell McCafferty, who later became a prominent Irish journalist, playwright and feminist, described him as ‘the most brilliant orator of his generation… [He] laid bare the sectarian, anti-Catholic, anti-Irish nature of the statelet. He was fearless, informed, young … and breathtakingly beautiful.’27 He also, by his own admission, ‘drank far, far too much at Queen’s’.28 In 1965 McCann got drunk after a Literific dinner, broke into a closed hotel bar, and stole several bottles of champagne. For this episode of what he called ‘alcoholic rascality’, he was expelled from the university and moved to London, where he got involved with a group of Irish radicals who introduced him to Marxism. 

			As an undergraduate Boyle remained reserved and cerebral, but he found himself attracted to, and perhaps somewhat envious of, McCann’s unconventional and freewheeling manner. Michael Farrell, in contrast, was austere, almost cold, with a calculating political mind. Farrell, who came from Magherafelt near Derry, a town with a much more bitter history of tension between Catholics and Protestants than even Newry, arrived at Queen’s a year after Boyle, and also quickly plunged into politics, chairing the Labour Club, which was tiny at that time. Michael Emmerson remembered Farrell as ‘always making speeches’, while McCafferty recalled him as ‘a fresher with a beard [who] stood by himself waving a bible and declaring himself an atheist’.29 Farrell, like others of his generation, had been inspired in part by the struggle for black equality then unfolding in the US. Watching TV news reports of American blacks demanding the basic rights of American citizenship fuelled a similar sort of thinking among many Northern Catholics.

			Farrell knew Boyle ‘slightly but not well’ during their undergraduate years, and described him ‘as a sort of mild leftist [who] would have stuck out a little bit – really as someone who would be sympathetic to things that we would do in the Labour Group’. For his part, during his undergraduate years, Boyle did not feel particularly close to either McCann or Farrell: ‘I had never got on very well with them. I always felt they were a bit distant.’ But he respected them both. He viewed Farrell as ‘tremendously able’ but also ‘cold and reserved. I always think about him as more theological. McCann is more like a leprechaun … a kind of carefree spirit.’30

			In the spring of 1965 Boyle graduated from Queen’s with a second-class honours degree in law. His academic work had suffered following his mother’s death, and he failed to get the first for which he had hoped. Nonetheless, he went to Cambridge University to do a one-year graduate diploma course in criminology. It was an important turning point, giving him a fresh perspective on Northern Ireland. With the benefit of distance, Boyle realized ‘just how bad the place was. I had begun to read about Northern Ireland when I was at Cambridge, and began to see the realities of discrimination and the whole political monolith that was Unionist Ulster.’31 

			The year in Cambridge also opened his eyes to a radical new way of thinking about the law known as critical criminology.32 Spawned by the political ferment of the mid-1960s, the theory challenged conventional ideas about the criminal justice system and role of law in society. Instead of seeing crime simply as behaviour that violated the law, this approach argued that what was and was not deemed legal reflected the power structure in society, and that the criminal justice system all too often served the needs of the rich and powerful. The solution, therefore, was to use the law as a mechanism to promote change and create a more just and equitable society. It was a powerful ideal that would help shape Boyle’s approach to his chosen profession for the rest of his life.

			Boyle also resumed his acquaintance with Michael Farrell and Eamonn McCann, who were both also in Britain. The two men were deeply involved in the politics of the ‘New Left’, which centred on opposition to the war in Vietnam, support for the civil rights struggle in the US, and calls for broader political and economic change. They were also members of what Boyle described as a ‘hazy organization called the Irish Workers’ Group’,33 a collection of Irish radicals looking to build a broad anti-capitalist movement in both halves of Ireland. ‘They had a newspaper and published pamphlets,’ Kevin recalled. ‘They were believers. They were socialists.’34

			For his part, while Boyle occasionally came to meetings in London, he resisted making an ideological commitment, preferring instead to educate himself on the issues while wrestling in his own mind with how best to tackle them.35 

			Meanwhile, significant shifts were underway in the IRA and its political wing, Sinn Féin. The IRA’s 1956–62 border campaign, whose opening salvo Boyle had experienced when the bomb went off near his home in Newry in 1956, had failed, due in large part to the absence of support from Northern Ireland’s Catholic community. Consequently, the remnants of the movement began to adopt a new strategy of open political agitation in both parts of Ireland. The men behind the new approach were IRA Chief of Staff Cathal Goulding and Roy Johnston, a physicist with strong Marxist leanings. They sought to cloak their strategy in the legacy of James Connolly, the legendary Irish socialist, dropping the IRA’s traditional emphasis on physical force to expel the British from Northern Ireland and, instead, embracing explicitly left-wing politics in the hope of generating wider public support. They ‘saw the trench-coated gunman – the symbol of the IRA’s ethos – as a prop that must be carried off the stage of Irish history and dumped.’36 

			As he pored over books and pamphlets, attended meetings in Cambridge and London and continued his political self-education, Boyle became aware of this development, which Michael Farrell described as Republicans in the North beginning ‘to involve themselves in social agitation and [becoming] interested in cooperating with other groups to oppose repression and discrimination within the Northern state’.37 And, after years of quiescence, other groups were also pushing for change in the North. The Campaign for Social Justice continued its efforts to publicize cases of discrimination against Catholics. Then, in May 1966, Gerry Fitt of the Republican Labour Party was elected to the British Parliament as the member from West Belfast. His victory, in a general election that brought the Labour Party to power in London, broke a long-standing Unionist monopoly on representation at Westminster. For the first time, Northern Ireland’s Catholics had a voice in Parliament, and Fitt used his inaugural speech to outline their grievances. To startled MPs, he denounced Northern Ireland’s ‘anti-democratic electoral system’, in which the unionists believed ‘they rule by divine right. Discrimination is an everyday occurrence. People are denied jobs because of their religion.’ It was time, Fitt said, for Parliament to get involved in ‘bringing about a new political situation’ in Northern Ireland.38

			For decades, the British government had largely ignored Northern Ireland. The province had its own government, and as long as things were quiet, British politicians had little interest in getting involved in a place that could produce only headaches. Now, however, Boyle, Farrell and many others hoped that the new government of Labour prime minister Harold Wilson would prove more sympathetic to calls for change. ‘When Wilson was elected,’ Farrell recalled, ‘there was a quite substantial backbench group in the British Labour Party who were calling for more pressure on the Northern Ireland government to end the Special Powers Act and to bring in anti-discrimination legislation. That raised a lot of hopes.’

			The Special Powers Act, introduced by the Northern Ireland government in 1922, and applicable only to the North, was a source of particular bitterness for Catholics because it gave the authorities what one British journalist described as ‘powers of search, arrest, and detention without trial almost unheard of outside a police state’.39 Over the years the law had been used to ban newspapers, books, films and organizations, and had been invoked from 1938 to 1946, and again from 1956 to 1961, to intern without trial those the Unionist government viewed as a threat. As Boyle and two colleagues would write some years later, although the law was ‘not formally directed against Roman Catholics and Republicans, it was common knowledge that it was against them and them alone that it was directed and used.’40

			Now, though, there was a sense that the long-frozen political situation in Northern Ireland was on the cusp of change. ‘In London,’ Boyle remembered, ‘we used to talk about what we could do and what could be done about Ireland and the fact that something had to be done.’41

			As his year in Cambridge drew to an end, Boyle explored the possibility of studying for a doctorate in the US, but then decided to return to Northern Ireland where he applied for a teaching job at Queen’s. Most of the university’s faculty did not come from the North but from Britain or abroad. ‘The university felt vulnerable in that they had few local employees,’ Kevin said. ‘And that helped me get a job.’42 He was offered a position as an assistant lecturer in the Faculty of Law.

			Equipped with a deeper and more discriminating sense of what was wrong in his native land, aware that the winds of change were now beginning to blow, and determined to play a role in the political drama he could sense was coming, Boyle arrived in Belfast in the summer of 1966. ‘I was conscious I was coming back to do something. I didn’t know what I was going to do, but I was coming back to get involved.’43
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			[3] The Faceless Committee

			The Northern Ireland to which Kevin Boyle returned was a society beginning to smoulder. Prime Minister Terence O’Neill continued his cautious efforts at reform, promoting economic modernization and making tentative overtures to the Catholic community. At the same time, there was growing pressure from lobbying groups like the Campaign for Social Justice, continuing activity by a small but increasingly political republican movement, and calls for change from Labour MPs in Westminster. 

			However incremental, any prospect of change infuriated Protestant loyalist hardliners. Their fears were most vocally articulated by the fundamentalist preacher Ian Paisley. His unceasing rants against Catholicism and ‘support for Britain while rejecting everything Britain tries to stand for’1 made Paisley seem a throwback to the religious wars of previous centuries. It was easy to see why Boyle and his Queen’s classmates had mocked him when he had first become prominent a couple of years earlier. Now, however, with his fiery speeches, and, during the summer of 1966, instigation of occasional street disturbances, Paisley had become a serious, and fearsome, political force. At a time of social, economic and political change, he was steadily gaining support, especially from rural and working-class Protestants anxious that their traditional standing was under threat.

			By that autumn, however, when Boyle began his first term at Queen’s, tensions had subsided, and Belfast had returned to its normal state of uneasy calm. Boyle was eager to make a success of his first academic job, confiding to a diary that the Queen’s appointment ‘was the momentous step of my life. New work – and plenty of it – new people.’2 He threw himself into teaching and research, and into adjusting to being a member of a faculty in a deeply conservative institution with a reputation as the place where future Unionist lawyers and politicians went to be educated. 

			Boyle’s main teaching responsibilities covered criminal law and jurisprudence. But he also developed a growing interest in the sociology of law – the study of the role of law in society. William Twining, who had grown up in a British colonial family in Uganda and had been teaching law in Khartoum and Dar es Salaam for the past decade, arrived in Queen’s at the same time to take up the chair of jurisprudence. He and his wife Penelope, a Dublin-born Protestant, were much less conventional than the average Queen’s faculty member, and soon became Boyle’s close friends and confidants. In late 1967 Boyle wrote that his new friendship with Twining ‘gave me the supportive environment I needed’.3

			‘Queen’s was a very hierarchical place,’ Twining said. ‘Kevin found it difficult to settle in and adjust to academic life.’ Assuming the role of mentor, Twining hosted Boyle for long conversations at his home on Deramore Drive, near the campus, advising him about his teaching and acting as a sounding board for his evolving political ideas. Boyle was frustrated by the rigidity of the system. ‘He wanted to do something that was more experimental,’ Twining said, but it was ‘more than what Queen’s would permit’. And the rigidity extended well beyond campus. Boyle developed a plan to study for a doctorate, based on empirical research, about law enforcement in Northern Ireland. He approached the Royal Ulster Constabulary for cooperation, but the research was shelved when the RUC declined to participate.4 
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